Ozonolysis Applications in Drug Synthesis

Scott G. Van Ornum,* Robin M. Champeau, and Richard Pariza*

Cedarburg Pharmaceuticals, Inc., 870 Badger Circle, Grafton, Wisconsin 53024

Received December 13, 2005 (Revised Manuscript Received March 17, 2006)

Contents

1. Introduction	2990
2. Ozonolysis in Total Synthesis	2992
2.1. (+)-Artemisinin	2992
2.2. Indolizidine 251F	2994
2.3. D,L-Camptothecin	2994
2.4. 24(S)-Hydroxyvitamin D ₂	2995
3. Industrial-Scale Ozonolysis	2996
3.1. Ceftibuten and Cefaclor	2996
3.2. 2-Hydroxyindan-2-carboxaldehyde	2997
3.3. Oxandrolone	2998
4. Conclusion	3000
5. Acknowledgment	3000
6. References	3000

1. Introduction

Ozonolysis chemistry has been used extensively in academic, research, and industrial environments. A review on ozonolysis by Bailey appeared in Chemical Reviews nearly 50 years ago, and a significant amount of research has since been published and reviewed.^{1–3} Synthetic chemists have many alternative chemical transformations at their disposal, but the ease with which an ozonolysis reaction can be conducted renders it a clean and effective choice for oxidative cleavage of double bonds. The primary concern with ozonolysis chemistry rests on safety issues because the lowmolecular-weight ozonides and peroxides produced are unstable intermediates. These products could form an explosive hazard upon concentration during the workup if methods to detect and safely quench the peroxides are not employed. Scaling an ozonolysis reaction to an industrial level requires a careful assessment of the energetics of the reaction at hand. The mechanism of an ozonolysis reaction has been thoroughly studied, and the Criegee mechanism has been accepted as shown below.^{4–6}



* To whom correspondence should be addressed: Cedarburg Pharmaceuticals, Inc., 870 Badger Circle, Grafton, WI 53024. Telephone: 262-376-1467. Fax: 262-376-1068. E-mail: richard.pariza@cedarburgpharma.com.

Generally, ozone is generated from air or oxygen and passed through a cold solution (from 0 to -78 °C) of solvent and substrate until a blue color is observed, indicating destruction of the double bond. Typical solvents include methanol, ethyl acetate, dichloromethane, ethanol, water, and acetic acid. After sparging with nitrogen to dissipate the free ozone, a reductive or oxidative workup can afford a wide variety of products including alcohols, aldehydes, ketones, acids, and amines. Kula has reported conditions that allow for safely performing ozonolysis reactions up to a 500 g scale.⁷ Because the high-energy ozonide (also called normal or secondary ozonide or 1,2,4-trioxolane) is formed in nonparticipating solvents, the use of protic solvents such as alcohols or acids is preferred. The resulting alkoxy and acyloxy hydroperoxides are reduced more efficiently and pose less of a safety risk during scale-up. The temperature at which an ozonolysis reaction is typically carried out is -78 °C; however, Kula recommends temperatures between 0 and -20 °C or higher. His reasoning is based on the idea that at higher temperatures the primary ozonide (1,2,3trioxolane or molozonide) will be more likely to smoothly decompose into the corresponding hydroperoxides and disfavor collapse into the 1,2,4-trioxolane. Running the reaction at higher temperatures in participating solvents will promote the formation of hydroperoxide intermediates that can quickly react with the solvent and provide a safer reaction.

The reduction phase of an ozonolysis reaction is not only important from a safety standpoint but can also determine the product composition. Reductive workups can afford aldehydes, ketones, or alcohols. A substantial number of reducing reagents have been employed including zinc-acetic acid, sulfite ion, bisulfite ion, iodide, dimethyl sulfide, thiourea, and lithium aluminum hydride or sodium borohydride to afford alcohols.^{1-2,8} The reductions themselves are generally exothermic and dose-controlled, requiring efficient cooling to dissipate the heat of reaction. The use of dimethyl sulfide offers several advantages including the ability to safely reduce peroxides to carbonyl products, and the excess sulfide can be removed by evaporation, provided that an efficient scrubbing system is in place.9,10 Dimethyl sulfide is also a milder reducing reagent causing less of an exothermic event.¹¹ Trimethyl phosphite also has been used as an efficient reducing agent for quenching ozonolysis reactions and offers the advantage of less odor than dimethyl sulfide. Oxidative workups generally convert peroxide intermediates to ketones or carboxylic acids. Typical reagents include peroxy acids, silver oxide, chromic acid, oxygen, permanganate, or hydrogen peroxide.^{1-2,8}

Additional transformations that broaden the scope of ozonolysis can be seen in the following reactions (Scheme



Scott G. Van Ornum was born and received his elementary education in New London, WI. He received a B.S. degree in chemistry from the University of Wisconsin—Stevens Point in 1992. From there, Scott studied at the University of Wisconsin—Milwaukee under Professor James M. Cook and received a Ph.D. in organic chemistry in 1998. Doctoral work was centered on the development of the tandem Pauson–Khand reaction. He was then employed at Abbott Laboratories for 4 years as a Senior Scientist specializing in process development chemistry. In 2002, Scott was employed at Cedarburg Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and is currently a Research Manager for various projects. He enjoys stock-car racing, running, and reading.



Robin (Young) Champeau was born in New London, WI. She obtained a B.S. in Water Resources from the University of Wisconsin—Stevens Point. She was a Chemist with the City of Brookfield Water Pollution Control Center analytical laboratory for 8 years. She is currently an Associate Scientist in the Research and Development department with Cedarburg Pharmaceuticals, Inc. of Grafton, WI. She enjoys spending time with her family.

1). Schreiber has shown that by modifying the ozonolysis and workup procedures a variety of terminally functionalized products can be obtained from cycloalkenes.¹² When an acid or base is simply incorporated during the ozonolysis sequence followed by a reductive workup, mixed aldehydes, esters, and acetals can be furnished in high yields. The authors of this review carried out similar transformations using cyclic olefins on a 500 g scale to provide the acetal–aldehyde product in high yields (>70%).¹³

Reactions shown in Scheme 2 further demonstrate the use of ozone to provide a selective oxidative cleavage of silyloxyalkene **1** to lactone **2** in 93% yield.^{14,15} The nucleo-philicity of the silyloxyalkene double bond makes it more prone to ozonolysis than the less activated vinyl double bond. Ketene dithioacetal **3** can be efficiently cleaved with ozone to provide the corresponding ketone **4**.¹⁶ The reaction of α , β -unsaturated ketone **5** with ozone affords keto acid **6** in 55% and is an important reaction in steroid chemistry.¹⁷



Richard J. Pariza is Vice President of Research and Development at Cedarburg Pharmaceuticals, Inc. He received his B.S. degree in chemistry from the University of Wisconsin—Milwaukee and a Ph.D. from Purdue University, working for Professor Philip Fuchs. He built and managed two process research departments at Abbott Laboratories and has consulted and worked for several small pharmaceutical companies. His chemical interests range from liquid-state interactions to the synthesis of natural and sophisticated (unnatural) products. He has chaired a Gordon Research Conference (1995) and an IUPAC international symposium on Natural Products Chemistry (1996). He was a founding Associate Editor and is now member of the Editorial Board of *Organic Process Research and Development*. He enjoys golf, writing poetry, and studying philosophy.





Ozonation of alkynes typically furnishes carboxylic acids in methanol. Alkene **7** can be selectively cleaved in the presence of alkynes to provide aldehyde **8** as shown in Scheme 3.^{18a} Aromatic rings are more stable to ozone, and a preferential reaction takes place with alkynes to provide the carboxylic acid **10**.^{18b} Heteroaromatic systems such as quinoline **11** are ozonized to the corresponding diacid **12** under the rigorous conditions of acetic acid, excess ozone, and hydrogen peroxide.¹⁹ In this particular case, ozone did not react with the quinoline nitrogen to produce the corresponding *N*-oxide. Additional heteroatom ozonolysis reactions include the conversion of phosphines to phosphine oxides,²⁰ organic sulfides to sulfoxides,²¹ and selenides to selenoxides.²²

The use of aluminum chloride or boron trifluoride²³ as additives in ozonolysis reactions can enhance the nucleophilicity of unsaturated groups. However, as shown in Scheme 4, the opposite effect is realized by the addition of pyridine to the reaction of alkene **13**, which results in higher yields and regioselectivity to provide aldehyde **14**.²⁴





Scheme 3. Ozonolysis of Unsaturated Systems



Scheme 4. Regioselective Ozonolysis

11



12

Ozonolysis reactions can be extended to oxidative transformations to provide basic functional group preparation. Allenes such as **15** are susceptible to ozonolysis to provide aldehydes 16^{25} as well as ozonation of benzyl ether **17** to afford a high yield of benzoate ester $18^{.26}$ Cleavage of nitronate anion **19** with ozone affords the corresponding ketone **20**.²⁷ Finally, a simple chemical transformation for converting alkene **21** to enone **22** has been accomplished by an ozonolysis reaction (Scheme 5).²⁸

This introduction provides a survey of where ozone has been used to conduct a wide variety of chemical transformations. This review aims to provide some recent examples of ozonolysis chemistry used in total synthesis including the





preparation of biologically active molecules, followed by examples of known industrial-scale processes used in pharmaceutical synthesis. After a review of the literature, these authors found that most cited ozonolysis reactions are conducted on a small scale and involve typical alkene cleavage reactions. Many large-scale ozone reactions conducted at chemical and pharmaceutical companies are not published for proprietary reasons. Additional references employing ozonolysis reactions can be found in the References described for each compound synthesized.²⁹

2. Ozonolysis in Total Synthesis

2.1. (+)-Artemisinin

Extracted from the plant Artemesia annua L., (+)artemisinin has emerged as a potent antimalarial stable peroxide useful against resistant strains of Plasmodium falciparum.30 (+)-Artemisinin contains an "endoperoxide bridge", which reacts with iron atoms to form free radicals. Artemisinin becomes toxic to malaria parasites because it reacts with the high iron content of the parasites, generating free radicals and leading to the damage of the parasite. Recent studies also suggest that artemisinin is effective at treating various forms of cancer such as leukemia and breast cancer.31 The total synthesis³² of artemisinin has been reported in addition to congener synthesis over recent years.³³ Avery and co-workers describe a 10-step stereoselective total synthesis starting with (R)-(+)-pulegone 23, which employs an abnormal ozonolysis process in the last step to provide (+)-artemisinin **34**.^{34,35}

(*R*)-(+)-Pulegone **23** was epoxidized with alkaline hydrogen peroxide to pulegone epoxide **24** in 74% yield (Scheme 6). Thiophenoxide ring opening of **24** and loss of acetone afforded the thiophenyl ketone **25** in regiospecific fashion in high yield.

Oxidation of **25** with *m*-chloroperoxybenzoic acid furnished sulfoxide **26** in 95% yield. Alkylation of ketone **26** with LDA followed by 2-(2-bromoethyl)-2,5,5-trimethyl-1,3dioxane **27** provided transient intermediate **28** that was desulfurized with aluminum amalgam to afford the desired





ketone **29** in 50% yield. The reaction of ketone **29** with *p*-toluenesulfonohydrazide provided the corresponding hydrazone **30** in 86% yield. Subsequent treatment of hydrazone **30** with 4 equiv of *n*-butyllithium and *N*,*N*-dimethylformamide (DMF) provided the regiochemically pure unsaturated aldehyde **31** in 70% yield. Diastereomer **32** was furnished by the reaction of aldehyde **31** with tris(trimethylsilyl)aluminum etherate in 88% yield. A convenient one pot approach to vinyl silane **33** was developed by reacting **32** with 3 equiv of lithium diethylamide followed by 2.5 equiv of LDA. The resultant dianion of **32** was quenched with methyl iodide to afford acid **33** in 61% yield.

The final strategy employs an abnormal ozonolysis process in the last step to provide (+)-artemisinin **34**. The remarkable sequence from **33** to **34** can be explained by protonation of the middle oxygen (O2) of the primary ozonide and heterolytically breaking the O1–O2 bond during the migration of the silicon from carbon to O1 in a Beckman-type anionotropic shift. Similar ozonolysis results are discussed by Büchi and Wüest,^{34b} where a chemiluminescent dioxetane is isolated in low yield (15%). Such a dioxetane (structure 3 in ref 33a) could form in this case after the migration of the tetramethylsilane (TMS) group, or the peroxy aldehyde could proceed directly to the product after nucleophilic cleavage of the TMS group. Another case of silicon involved in a Beckman rearrangement or fragmentation was observed by Hudrlik et al.^{34c}

Ozonolysis of acid **33** in dichloromethane at -78 °C followed by the addition of aqueous sulfuric acid and silica gel furnished (+)-artemisinin **34** in 33–39% yield. Dichloromethane proved to be the superior solvent for the reaction. Methanol destroyed the tetracycle via lactone ring methanolysis, and other solvents surveyed (hexane and ethyl acetate) led to lower yields compared to dichloromethane. Efforts to maintain oxidative reaction conditions were investigated with additives such as *tert*-butylhydroperoxide and *tert*-butylperoxide, but this proved unsuccessful. The addition of *tert*-butylhydroxytoluene resulted in the highest yield of 35% of (+)-artemisinin. After the ozonolysis sequence was completed, the treatment with sulfuric acid provided the cyclization reaction to (+)-artemisinin **34** in 35% yield.





Scheme 8. Aúbe's Approach to Indolizidine 251F



2.2. Indolizidine 251F

Indolizidine 251F is a natural product derived from skin extracts of the dendrobatid frog species Minyobates bombetes. The skin exudate of the Colombian frog M. bombetes causes severe locomotor difficulties, muscle spasms, and convulsions upon injection in mice. The major component of the alkaloid mixture is 251F. As a class, these alkaloids include numerous biological actives of which batrachotoxin and epibatidine are known examples.³⁶ The activity of 251F has not been established, and the challenge of the total synthesis rests with forming three fused rings and seven stereogenic centers. The first total synthesis of 251F was reported by Taber and You³⁷ employing a diastereoselective rhodium-catalyzed synthesis of a key cyclopentane intermediate. Aúbe and co-workers report an asymmetric synthesis of 251F employing an intramolecular Schmidt reaction as well as an asymmetric Diels-Alder reaction.³⁸ Ozonolysis of an advanced intermediate eventually would provide quantities of 251F for biological screening.

As shown in Scheme 7, the Diels–Alder adduct **35** was converted to vinyl ketone **36** via the Weinreb amide³⁹ in 85% yield. Treating **36** with Grubb's catalyst **37** in an atmosphere of ethylene provided the corresponding bicyclic enone **38** in 93% yield.

Derivatization of enone **38** was required to provide the intramolecular Schmidt precursor. Treatment of **38** with lithium dimethyl cuprate followed by the addition of alde-

hyde **39** resulted in the formation of enone **40** in 65% yield. The desired *exo* stereochemistry of the methyl substituent was effected because of cuprate addition occurring from the exposed face of **38**. The treatment of **40** with Na/NH₃ facilitated the reduction of the enone and cleavage of the benzyl ether moiety. The 4:1 mixture of inseparable diastereomers was carried directly into conversion of the alcohol into its azide derivative **42** using a modified Mitsunobu reaction.⁴⁰

When standard conditions⁴¹ for carrying out the intramolecular Schmidt reaction were tried on **41**, only degradative products were observed. To circumvent this problem, ozonolysis was carried out on **41** followed by the reduction with sodium borohydride. The azide functionality survived the ozone treatment. Column chromatography was then used to separate the mixture of diastereomers to produce alcohol **42**. The intramolecular Schmidt reaction was then conducted by treatment of **42** with trifluoromethanesulfonic acid to furnish lactam **43** as a single diastereomer in 79% yield. The total synthesis of alkaloid 251F was completed by the reaction of **43** with lithium aluminum hydride to provide **44** in 86– 100% yield (Scheme 8). Spectral characteristics were consistent with literature values, and optical rotation data indicated an enantiomeric excess of 93%.

2.3. D,L-Camptothecin

Renewed interest in synthesizing camptothecin and its active analogues has been triggered by findings of its high

Scheme 9. Danishefsky's Approach to D,L-Camptothecin



antitumor activity in various cell lines and animal screens.⁴² While camptothecin is a difficult alkaloid to isolate, its analogues are synthesized in good yields from the natural product.⁴³ Danishefsky and co-workers re-evaluated the problem and explored the chemistry to provide a two pronged approach to an inexpensive and decent yielding route to D,L-camptothecin.⁴⁴

Shown in Scheme 9, the readily available tricyclic ester **45** was converted to **48** using two routes. In the first sequence, **45** was reacted with sodium hexamethyldisilazide and benzaldehyde to afford the benzylidene acid **47** in 90% yield. Ozonolysis of **47** followed by esterification provided **48** in 94% yield. The complementary route involved the reaction of tricylic **45** with oxygen and triethylphosphite to provide a 75% yield of diastereomers **46**. Oxidation with pyridinium dichromate afforded the corresponding ketone **48** in 83% yield.

The reaction of ester **48** with the Schiff base shown via a Friedlander condensation afforded the pentacyclic compound **49**. Heating **49** with HBr provided D,L-desoxycamptothecin **50** in 71% yield. Hydroxylation of **50** with oxygen, Me₂-NH, and CuCl₂⁴⁵ gave the title compound camptothecin **51** in 91% yield.

2.4. 24(S)-Hydroxyvitamin D₂

Vitamin D analogues have long been regarded as important compounds in bone and mineral metabolism. Prodrugs of vitamin D compounds are often sought because they are biologically inactive as administered but eventually are metabolized to active substrates in vivo. Ergocalciferol has been a starting material for the synthesis of numerous analogues of vitamin D, including the vitamin D_2 metabolite, 24(S)-hydroxyvitamin D₂. The first stereospecific synthesis of this metabolite was carried out by Meckler et al.⁴⁶ This metabolite acts as a prodrug for 1α ,24(S)-dihydroxyvitamin D₂, which is under development for treatment of diseases characterized by cellular hyperproliferation.

As shown in Scheme 10, ergocalciferol 52 was reacted with SO_2 to provide an unstable mixture of C-6/C-19 epimeric SO₂ adducts, followed by silvlation to afford the protected mixture 53. Ozonolysis of 53 was conducted in a solution of methanol/dichloromethane (1:3) at -25 °C, but the yields were inconsistent. Tsuji and Ishikawa have reported the catalytic use of additives (CaCl₂, MgCl₂, AlCl₃, ZnCl₂, or TiCl₄) to act as an ozonolysis stabilizer.⁴⁷ Thus, 1 equiv each of sodium acetate and acetic acid were added to the reaction mixture, which resulted in consistent reaction yields. It is not known if this is due to a stabilizing salt effect or to the sodium acetate/acetic acid buffering of the reaction. Reductive workup of the reaction mixture with sodium borohydride afforded the crude alcohol 54, which was then iodinated. The diastereomeric mixture of primary iodides was subjected to thermal elimination of SO₂ in refluxing ethanol to provide iodide 55 in 51% yield over six steps. Iodide 55 was treated with lithium diphenylphosphide followed by oxidative workup with hydrogen peroxide to furnish phosphine oxide 56. Optically active aldehyde 57 and phosphine oxide 56 were coupled to afford the desired olefin 58.

Deprotection of the hydroxyl groups using tetrabutylammonium fluoride in tetrahydrofuran (THF) provided the *trans*-24(S)-hydroxyvitamin D_2 **59**. Photoisomerization to the *cis*-24(S)-hydroxyvitamin D_2 was effected in methanol in the presence of the photosensitizer, 9-acetylanthracene, to provide an 80% yield of the title compound **60**.

Scheme 10. Meckler's Approach to 24(S)-Hydroxyvitamin D₂



3. Industrial-Scale Ozonolysis

3.1. Ceftibuten and Cefaclor

Ceftibuten is a third-generation oral cephalosporin, has excellent Gram-negative activity, and possesses a high degree of β -lactamase stability. Current clinical trials indicate that ceftibuten may be effective in the treatment of acute otitis media, streptococcal pharyngitis, acute exacerbations of chronic bronchitis, and urinary tract infections. Cefaclor is used to treat certain infections caused by bacteria, such as pneumonia and infections of the ears, lungs, throat, urinary tract, and skin. Cefaclor and ceftibuten are in a class of medications called cephalosporin antibiotics. Earlier Shionogi Research Laboratories described a synthesis on industrial scale for producing ceftibuten.¹¹ In an effort to develop commercial routes to these valuable compounds, researchers at the Schering Plough Research Institute utilized an ozonolysis reaction to provide a key intermediate used to produce ceftibuten and cefaclor.48

As shown in Scheme 11, cephalosporin C 61 was enzymatically transformed to the carboxylic acid 62 followed by electrochemical reduction to afford sulfoxide 63. An extractive esterification using diphenyldiazomethane in a biphasic aqueous dichloromethane solution resulted in the formation of ester 64 in 88% yield. Ozonolysis of 3-exomethylenecephams in the sulfoxide or sulfide form have been previously described in the literature.⁴⁹ After an aqueous washing procedure to remove monoacid impurities, the resulting methanol solution of 64 was ozonized at -55 °C for 4-6 h and then quenched with trimethyl phosphite to provide a nearly quantitative yield of 65. Additional development of this step showed that the ozonolysis of the sulfoxide form was superior to ozonolysis of the sulfide form of 64. It was believed that the sulfoxide form was more stable based on a 95% yield, whereas ozonolysis of the sulfide of 64 led to lower yields. Intermediate 65 was reacted in a two-step process first to provide amine 67 and then reacted with phenylglycine to afford cefaclor 70. Multiple routes were

 H_2N

Scheme 11. Ceftibuten and Cefaclor Synthetic Route



DPM = $(C_6H_5)_2CH_7$; Pre = $(CH_3)_2C=CHCH_2_7$; Cbz = $C_6H_5CH_2OC_7$

investigated to transform sulfoxide **65** to **66**. A three-step sequence was carried out through a series of reactions to afford the amine **66**. The coupling reaction of amine **66** with acid **68** in the presence of phosphorus oxychloride furnished amide **69**. Subsequent deprotection of **69** with aluminum chloride in anisole provided ceftibuten **71**. Further purification provided an overall yield of 76% from **66** to **71**.

3.2. 2-Hydroxyindan-2-carboxaldehyde

Ozonolysis reactions typically are limited to small-scale reactions. However, pharmaceutical and chemical companies have been able to safely execute large-scale ozonolysis processes. After careful assessment of the safety and calorimetry data, chemists at Pfizer prepared a bisulfite adduct of 2-hydroxyindan-2-carboxaldehyde that was used as a surrogate aldehyde in a reductive amination reaction.⁵⁰

Shown in Scheme 12, the reaction of 2-indanone **72** with vinylmagnesium bromide in THF afforded the tertiary allylic alcohol **73** in 40% yield. The low yield can be attributed to competitive enolization of the starting ketone.

Ozonolysis of the vinyl moiety in dichloromethane at -78 °C followed by reductive workup with dimethyl sulfide afforded a complex mixture of products represented by dimers **74** and **76**, in which the monomeric aldehyde **75** was a minor component. The product mixture was then subjected to reductive amination conditions and acted as if a free aldehyde was present. The interpretation of this result suggested that the α -hydroxyaldehyde forms an equilibrium mixture of dimers and oligomers that condense with the secondary amine to form the corresponding iminium species for subsequent reductive amination. This chemistry could be carried out on a laboratory scale but was thought likely

Scheme 12. Pfizer's First Route toward Key Bicyclic Aldedyde 75



Scheme 13. Preparation of Bisulfite by Large-Scale Ozonolysis



to cause concern on scale-up to multi-kilogram quantities. The instability of aldehyde **75** suggested the idea of a bisulfite adduct **77** as an intermediate precursor for the reductive amination. A more efficient process was developed to provide the required bisulfite adduct **77** directly from the ozonolysis sequence as shown in Scheme 13.

The first improvement was realized by using toluene instead of THF for the Grignard addition of vinylmagnesium bromide to 2-indanone **72**. This increased the yield to over 95%, and the crude alcohol **73** could be employed directly in the ozonolysis step. The alcohol **73** was cooled to -60 °C in methanol to trap the carbonyl oxide as the methoxy-hydroperoxide **78**.⁵¹ Reduction of the hydroperoxide could be effected with dimethyl sulfide, potassium iodide, or sodium bisulfite. After the reaction mixture was added to an aqueous slurry of sodium bisulfite, the exotherm could be controlled effectively during the reduction sequence. Warming the slurry to 60 °C completed the bisulfite transformation to **77**. Bisulfite adduct **77** was isolated in 61% overall yield from 2-indanone.

Prior to scale-up, it was necessary to investigate several parameters of the reaction to provide a safe process to perform in the pilot plant. Analysis of the reaction by RC-1 calorimetry suggested a ΔH_{obs} of -535 kJ/mol, which corresponds to an adiabatic heat rise of 170 °C. This value essentially indicates the total heat that would need to be removed by the reactor jacket. Considering that the reaction rate was dose-controlled, the rate of addition of ozone could



be stopped if the reaction temperature approached intolerable limits.

Differential scanning calorimetry also indicated that the reaction mixture possessed an exothermic event occurring near 45 °C and expelling 404 J/g of energy. This suggested a window greater than 100 °C for the reaction at -65 °C; therefore, it was deemed safe for quenching at 0 °C. The thermal stability results, coupled with the dose rate control data, provided confidence that the reaction could be performed safely on a kilogram scale.

Solvent flammability was also a primary concern in addition to gases forming in the headspace of the reactor, which could lead to an explosive situation. The solution to this problem was diluting the ozone with a higher flow of an inert gas (nitrogen) in an effort to lower the risk of explosion. Three engineering scenarios were mapped out considering the moles of ozone produced per hour and rate of flow of ozone and inert gas. The safest option provided a process that kept both methanol and oxygen/ozone below the lower flammability limits and minimum oxygen concentration. With the safety controls in place and an appropriately engineered setup to dissipate the flammable gases, the ozonolysis reaction was scaled to the 3 kg level. The crude alcohol 73 was diluted with methanol and cooled to -60 °C, and ozone gas was added over 19 h to complete the reaction. After the reaction was warmed to 0 °C, it was transferred to the aqueous sodium bisulfite quench vessel. Warming the mixture to 60 °C completed the synthesis to afford bisulfite adduct 77. This assessment of the safety of an ozonolysis reaction demonstrates the ability to safely scale ozonolysis procedures in the preparation of pharmaceutical intermediates.

3.3. Oxandrolone

Oxandrolone is an anabolic steroid used to promote weight gain following extensive surgery, chronic infection, or severe trauma and in other cases that result in inadequate weight gain or maintenance. Oxandrolone is also used to decrease muscle loss caused by the treatment with corticosteroids and to reduce bone pain associated with osteoporosis. A fourstep process employing a large-scale ozonolysis sequence is described below by Cedarburg Pharmaceuticals, Inc. to provide kilogram quantities of oxandrolone.⁵²

Methylandrostanolone **79** was reacted with pyridinium tribromide in ethanol to provide the α -bromo ketone **80**. Elimination of HBr was facilitated with lithium bromide in DMF to provide the corresponding ketone **81** in 55% yield over two steps (Scheme 14).



Scheme 16. Modified Ozonolysis Approach



Extensive studies on the ozonolysis step were carried out to find a safe and scaleable process. A thorough search of the patent literature revealed that this approach was used by a group at Searle in 1963 to synthesize oxandrolone.⁵³ The Searle patent describes the ozonolysis of **81** in CCl₄ to give the mixed anhydride **82**, which was then converted directly to oxandrolone **83** after the reduction of the aldehyde and cyclization (Scheme 15). Alternatively, performing the ozonolysis step in a mixture of methanol and methylene chloride provided methyl ester **84**. The use of the carcinogenic CCl₄ was not suitable for large-scale production. Moreover, in these processes, the potentially dangerous ozonide or peroxide intermediates are decomposed thermally.

Initially, the ozonolysis was performed in methanol, and a traditional dimethyl sulfide workup was employed. Under these conditions, several products were formed by thin-layer chromatography (TLC). The major components presumably were the keto-dialdehyde **86** and the desired diester **85** (Scheme 16). Further oxidation of this mixture with NaIO₄ gave mainly the acid **87** by TLC analysis. Other typical ozonide cleaving agents [P(OCH₃)₃, PPh₃, Zn, etc.] were not evaluated.

The two-step oxidation method was moderately successful but provided a product that contained multiple unidentified impurities. The procedure described by Bailey for workup of ozonolysis products using aqueous sodium hydroxide⁵⁴ was investigated. This procedure eliminated the need for odiferous cleavage agents and allowed for the purification of the acid during the workup via standard acid-base chemistry. Further oxidation with NaIO₄ was unnecessary, because the sodium salt of the acid was the initial product formed after base quenching. The ozonolysis of 81 in methanol from -30 to -40 °C, followed by quenching with an aqueous solution of sodium hydroxide at ca. -15 °C, gave the desired acid 87 in 90% yield with a purity of 99% by high-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) (area %) as shown in Scheme 16. The success of this reaction allowed the desired oxidation to take place without using OsO4 and Pb(OAc)₄, which are not only highly toxic but also present a disposal problem.

The temperature effects of the ozonolysis reaction were examined, and it was found that performing the reaction at temperatures from -50 to -30 °C gave high-quality **87**, while running the reaction at temperatures from 0 to -20 °C gave a lower quality product. However, because of cooling limitations at the reactor scale, the reaction was run from -15 to 5 °C. Recrystallization of acid **87** provided an acceptable quality product.



Figure 1. Intermediate 89.

The effects of different solvents in ethanol led to multiple product formation. Reactions in ethyl acetate, CH₂Cl₂, and isopropanol led to slow conversions presumably because of the insolubility of 82 in these solvents. The reaction in a mixed solvent system of CH2Cl2/acetic acid led to multiple product formation as well. The current operating procedure for converting 81 to 87 has been scaled up to produce in excess of 14 kg of acid 87. Ozone is sparged into a methanolic solution of 81 until the reaction was deemed complete by quantitative TLC analysis. Monitoring the reaction by HPLC is complicated by the fact that the product does not contain a strong chromophore for UV analysis. On a 14 kg scale, the reaction was complete ($\leq 0.5\%$ 81) after approximately 24 h. Extended treatment with ozone leads to the formation of a more polar compound, soluble in aqueous NaOH. This compound was characterized as the acid 87 by nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) spectroscopy and can be controlled by performing the workup immediately after the ozonolysis is complete.

It is assumed that the intermediate formed in the ozonolysis is the hydroperoxide **89** (Figure 1). Hydroperoxides in general have been known to be thermally unstable and thus potentially dangerous intermediates. An advanced reactive system screening tool (ARSST) experiment was conducted on a methanolic solution of **89** to address this issue. When a sample of the reaction intermediate was heated from 25 to 100 °C in a sealed vessel at a rate of 2 °C/min, there was no temperature increase above the input temperature. The internal pressure also rose slightly because of the heating of methanol above its boiling point. It was determined that this particular hydroperoxide was intrinsically safe at the proposed ozonolysis-operating temperatures.

After the workup, the crude acid 87 was recrystallized from methanol to afford 60–70% consistent yields of pure product. The final step involved the reduction of acid 87followed by acid-catalyzed cyclization to provide oxandrolone 83 in 90% yield (Scheme 17).

Scheme 17



4. Conclusion

Ozone continues to be a clean and efficient reagent for organic chemists in the laboratory and beyond. The examples presented herein highlight the successful use of ozone in both academic synthesis and industrial chemical processes. From small to large scale, researchers and process-development chemists have safely implemented ozonolysis reactions in their efforts to bring interesting new products to the pharmaceutical and fine-chemical market.

5. Acknowledgment

The authors thank Mr. John Cabaj for useful discussions in the preparation of this paper.

6. References

- (a) Bailey, P. S. Chem. Rev. 1958, 58, 925. (b) Bailey P. S. Ozonization in Organic Chemistry; Academic Press: New York, 1978; Vol. 1.
- (2) Criegee, R. Chimia 1968, 22, 392. (b) Murray. R. W. Acc. Chem. Res. 1968, 1, 313.
- (3) Razumovskii, S. D.; Zaikov, G. E. Ozone and Its Reactions with Organic Compounds; Elsevier: Amsterdam, The Netherlands, 1984.
 (b) Berglund, R. A. Encyclopedia of Reagents for Organic Synthesis; Paquette, Leo, Ed.; Wiley: New York, 1995; p 3837.
- (4) Criegee, R. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1975, 14, 745
- (5) Kuczkowski, R. L. Acc. Chem. Res. 1983, 16, 42.
- (6) Razumovskii, S. D.; Zaikov, G. E. Russ. Chem. Rev. 1980, 49, 1163
 (b) Murray, R. W. Acc. Chem. Res. 1968, 1, 313.
- (7) Kula, J. *Chem. Health Saf.* **1999**, 22.
 (8) Belew, J. S. *In Oxidation*; Augustine, R. L., Ed.; Dekker: New York,
- 1969; Vol. 1, pp 259–335.
 (9) Boger, D. L.; Mullican, M. D.; Hellberg, M. R.; Patel, M. J. Org. Chem. 1985, 50, 1904.
- (10) Pappas, J. J.; Keaveney, W. P.; Gancher, E.; Berger, M. Tetrahedron Lett. 1966, 4273.
- (11) Yoshioka, M. Pure Appl. Chem. 1987, 59, 1041.
- (12) Claus, R. E.; Schreiber, S. L.; Reagan, J. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 1982, 23, 3867. (b) Schreiber, S. L., Claus, R. E. Org. Synth. 7, 168.
- (13) Unpublished results, Cedarburg Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
- (14) Clark, R. D.; Heathcock, C. H. Tetrahedron Lett. 1974, 2027.
- (15) Clark, R. D.; Heathcock, C. H. J. Org. Chem. 1976, 41, 1396.
- (16) Ziegler, F. E.; Fang, J.-M. J. Org. Chem. 1981, 46, 825.
- (17) Dauben, W. G.; Wight, H. G.; Boswell, G. A. J. Org. Chem. 1958, 23, 1787.
- (18) McCurry, P. M.; Abe, K. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1974**, 1387. (b) Cannon, J. G.; Darko, L. L. J. Org. Chem. **1964**, 29, 3419.
- (19) O'Murcho, C. Synthesis **1989**, 880.
- (20) Thompson, Q. E. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1961, 83, 845.
- (21) Horner, L.; Schaefer, H.; Ludwig, W. Chem. Ber. 1958, 91, 75.
- (22) Grese, T. A.; Hutchinson, K. D.; Överman, L. E. J. Org. Chem. 1993, 58, 2468.
- (23) Wilbaut, J. P.; Sixma, F. L. J.; Kampschmidt, L. W. F.; Boer, H. *Recl. Trav. Chim.* **1950**, *69*, 1355. (b) Sixma, F. L. J.; Boer, H.; Wilbaut, J. P.; Pel, H. J.; deBruyn, J. *Recl. Trav. Chim.* **1951**, *70*, 1005. (c) Wilbaut, J. P.; Boer, H. *Recl. Trav. Chim.* **1955**, 74, 241.
- (24) Shepard, D. A.; Donia, R. A.; Campbell, J. A.; Johnson, B. A.; Holysz, R. P.; Slomp, G., Jr.; Stafford, J. E.; Pederson, R. L.; Ott, A. C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1955, 77, 1212. (b) Slomp, G., Jr. J. Org. Chem. 1957, 22, 1277. (c) Slomp, G., Jr.; Johnson, J. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1958, 80, 915. (d) Boddy, I. K.; Boniface, P. J.; Cambie, R. C.; Craw, P. A.; Huang, Z.-D.; Larsen, D. S.; McDonald, H.; Rutledge, P. S.; Woodgate, P. D. AJD 1984, 37, 1511. (e) Haag, T.; Luu, B.; Hetru, C. J. Chem. Soc., Perkins Trans. 1 1988, 2353.
- (25) Corey, E. J.; Jones, G. B. Tetrahedron Lett. 1991, 32, 5713.
- (26) Hirama, M.; Shimizu, M. Synth. Commun. 1983, 13, 781.
- (27) McMurry, J. E.; Melton, J.; Padgett, H. J. Org. Chem. 1974, 39, 259.
- (28) White, J. D.; Grether, U. M.; Lee, C.-S. Org. Synth. 2005, 82, 108. (29)Additional papers are presented in this reference, where the reader is encouraged to utilize these citations, where ozonolysis chemistry has been used to synthesize the title compound. (a) Rhizoxin D total synthesis: Lafontaine, J. A.; Provencal, D. P.; Gardelli, C.; Leahy, J. J. Org. Chem. 2003, 68, 4215. (b) Nikkomycin B total synthesis: Barrett, A. G. M.; Lebold, S. A. J. Org. Chem. 1990, 55, 5818. (c) Gymnocin-A total synthesis: Tsukano, C.; Ebine, M.; Sasaki, M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2005, 127, 4326. (d) Vinigrol total synthesis: Paquette, L. A.; Guevel, R.; Sakamoto, S.; Kim, I. H.; Crawford, J. J. Org. Chem. 2003, 68, 6096. (e) 4-epi-Acetomycin synthesis: Echavarren, A. M.; de Mendoza, J.; Prados, P.; Zapata, A. Tetrahedron Lett. 1991, 32, 6421. (f) D,L-Fulvine and D,L-crispatine total synthesis: Vedejs, E.; Larsen, S. D. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1984, 106, 3030. (g) 24(S),24-Epoxycholesterol synthesis: Spencer, T. A.; Li, D.; Russel, J. S. J. Org. Chem. 2000, 65, 1919. (h) (+)-Discodermolide total synthesis: Harried, S. S.; Lee, C. P.; Yang, G.; Lee, T. I. H.; Myles, D. C. J. Org. Chem. 2003, 68, 6646. (i) Yingzhaousu

A analogue synthesis: Tokuyasu, T.; Masuyama, A.; Nojima, M.; Kim, H.-S.; Wataya, Y. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2000, 41, 3145. (j) Amphidinolides T1 and T4 total synthesis: Colby, E. A.; O'Brien, K. C.; Jamison, T. F. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2005, 127, 4297. (k) (±)-Kumausallene and (±)-epi-kumausallene total synthesis: Grese, T. A.; Hutchinson, K. D.; Overman, L. E. J. Org. Chem. 1993, 58, 2468.
(30) Shen, G.; Zhuang, L. Med. Res. Rev. 1984, 4, 58. (b) Luo, X.; Shen.

- (30) Shen, G.; Zhuang, L. Med. Res. Rev. 1984, 4, 58. (b) Luo, X.; Shen.
 C. Med. Res. Rev. 1987, 7, 29.
- (31) Lai, H.; Nerendra, S. Cancer Lett. 1995, 91, 41. (b) Singh, N.; Lai, H. Life Sci. 2001, 70, 49.
- (32) Schmid, G.; Hofheinz, W. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1983, 105, 624. (b) Xu, X.; Zhu, J.; Huang, D.; Zhou, W. Tetrahedron 1986, 42, 818.
 (c) Avery, M. A.; Jennings-White, C.; Chong, W. K. M. Tetrahedron Lett. 1987, 28, 4629.
- (33) Analogues: (a) (+)-C/D portion, Avery, M. A.; Jennings-White, C.; Chong, W. K. M. J. Org. Chem. 1989, 54, 1789. (b) (+)-A/B/C ring portion, Avery, M. A.; Chong, W. K. M.; Detre, G. Tetrahedron Lett. 1990, 31, 1799. (c) (+)-A/C/D ring portion, Avery, M. A.; Chong, W. K. M.; Bupp, J. J. Chem. Soc. Chem. Commun. 1990, 1487. (d) Imakura, Y.; Yokoi, T.; Yamagishi, T.; Koyama, J.; Hu, H.; McPhail, D. R.; McPhail, A. T.; Lee, K. J. Chem. Soc. Chem. Commun. 1988, 372. (e) (+)-10-Desoxo, Jung, M.; Li, X.; Bustos, D.; ElSohly, H.; McChesney, J. Tetrahedron Lett. 1989, 30, 5973. (f) Jung, M.; Li, X.; Bustos, D.; ElSohly, H.; McChesney, J.; Milhous, W. K. J. Med. Chem. 1990, 33, 1516. (g) (±)-6,9-Desmethyl, Avery, M. A.; Jennings-White, C.; Chong, W. K. M. J. Org. Chem. 1989, 54, 1792. (h) Artemether analogues (dihydroartemisinin analogues), Lin, A.; Lee, M.; Klayman, D. J. Med. Chem. 1989, 32, 1249. (i) Lin, A.; Lee, L.; Klayman, D. L.; George, C. F.; Flippen-Anderson, J. L. J. Med. Chem. 1990, 33, 2610. (j) Nonperoxidic carba analogues: Ye, B.; Wu, Y.-L. Tetrahedron 1989, 7287. (k) Acton, N.; Klayman, D. L. Planta Med. 1986, 266. (1) Avery, M. A.; Chong, W. K. M. U.S. Patent 5,019,590. (m) Avery, M. A.; Chong, W. K. M. U.S. Patent 5,180,840. (n) Avery, M. A.; Jennings-White, C. U.S. Patent 5,225,554.
- (34) Avery, M. A.; Chong, W. K. M.; Jennings-White, C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1992, 114, 974. The remarkable sequence from 33 to 34 can be explained by protonation of the middle oxygen (O2) of the primary ozonide and heterolytically breaking the O1-O2 bond during the migration of the silicon from carbon to O1 in a Beckman-type anionotropic shift. Similar ozonolysis results are discussed by (b) Büchi, G.; Wüest, H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1978, 100, 294, where a chemiluminescent dioxetane is isolated in low yield (15%). Such a dioxetane (structure 3 in ref 33a) could form in this case after the migration of the TMS group, or the peroxy aldehyde could proceed directly to the product after nucleophilic cleavage of the TMS group. Another case of a silicon involved in a Beckman rearrangement or fragmentation was observed by (c) Hudrlik, P. F.; Waugh, M. A.; Hudrlik, A. M. J. Organomet. Chem. 1984, 271, 69.
- (35) Haraldson, C. A.; Karle, J. M.; Freeman, S. G.; Duvadie, R. K.; Avery, M. A. *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.* **1997**, *7*, 2357–2362. (c) Avery, M. A.; Alvim-Gaston, M.; Vroman, J. A.; Wu, B.; Ager, A.;

Peters, W.; Robinson, B. L.; Charman, W. *J. Med. Chem.* **2002**, *45*, 4321. (c) Avery, M. A.; Mehrotra, S.; Johnson, T. L.; Bonk, J. D.; Vroman, J. A.; Miller, R. *J. Med. Chem.* **1996**, *39*, 4149. (e) Avery, M. A.; Mehrotra, S.; Bonk, J. D.; Vroman, J. A.; Goins, D. K.; Miller, R. *J. Med. Chem.* **1996**, *39*, 2900.

- (36) Daly, J. W.; Spande, T. F. Alkaloids: Chemical and Biological Perspectives; Pelletier, S. W., Ed.; Wiley: New York, 1986; Vol. 4, p 1. (b) Badio, B.; Daly, J. W. Mol. Pharmacol. 1994, 45, 563.
- (37) Taber, D. F.; You, K. K. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1995, 117, 5757.
- (38) Wrobleski, A.; Sahasrabudhe, K.; Aúbe, J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2004, 126, 5475. (b) Wrobleski, A.; Sahasrabudhe, K.; Aúbe, J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2002, 124, 9974.
- (39) Nahm, S.; Weinreb, S. M. Tetrahedron Lett. 1981, 22, 3815.
- (40) Viaud, M. C.; Rollin, P. Synthesis 1990, 130.
- (41) Milligan, G. L.; Mossman, C. J.; Aúbe, J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1995, 117, 5757.
- (42) Cai, J.-C.; Hutchinson, C. R. Chem. Heterocycl. Compd. 1983, 25, 753. (b) Hutchinson, C. R. Tetrahedron 1981, 37, 1097. (c) Schultz, A. G. Chem. Rev. 1973, 385.
- (43) Sawada. S.; Matsuoka, S.; Nokata, K.; Nagata, H.; Furata, T.; Yokokura, T.; Miyasaka, T. *Chem. Pharm. Bull.* **1991**, *39*, 183.
- (44) Shen, W.; Coburn, C. A.; Bornmann, W. G.; Danishefsky, S. J. J. Org. Chem. 1993, 58, 611.
- (45) Boch. M.; Korth, T.; Nelke, J. M.; Pike, D.; Radunz, H.; Winterfeldt, E. Chem. Ber. 1972, 105, 2126.
- (46) Coutts, L. D.; Geiss, W. B.; Gregg, B. T.; Helle, M. A.; King, C.-H.; Itov, Z.; Mateo, M. E.; Meckler, H.; Zettler, M.; Knutson, J. C. Org. Process. Res. Dev. 2002, 6, 246.
- (47) Tsuji, K.; Ishikawa, H. Synth. Commun. 1997, 27, 595.
- (48) Bernasconi, E.; Lee, J.; Roletto, J.; Sogli, L.; Walker, D. Org. Process. Res. Dev. 2002, 6, 152. (b) Bernasconi, E.; Genders, D.; Lee, J.; Longoni, D.; Martin, C. R.; Menon, V.; Roletto, J.; Sogli, L.; Walker, D.; Zappi, G.; Zelenay, P.; Zhang, H. Org. Process. Res. Dev. 2002, 6, 158. (c) Bernasconi, E.; Lee, J.; Roletto, J.; Sogli, L.; Walker, D. Org. Process. Res. Dev. 2002, 6, 169. (d) Weinberg, N.; Chai, D.; Bernasconi, E.; Genders, D.; Lee, J.; Longoni, D.; Martin, C. R.; Menon, V.; Roletto, J.; Sogli, L.; Walker, D.; Zappi, G.; Zelenay, P.; Zhang, H. Org. Process. Res. Dev. 2002, 6, 178.
- (49) Scartazzini, R.; Bickel H. *Helv. Chim. Acta* 1974, *57*, 1919. (b)
 Chauvette, R. R.; Pennington, P. A. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 1974, *96*, 4986. (c) Chauvette, R. R. U.S. Patent 3,917,587. (d) Chauvette, R. R. U.S. Patent 4,060,688.
- (50) Ragan, J. A.; am Ende, D. J.; Brenek, S. J.; Eisenbreis, S. A.; Singer, R. A.; Tickner, D. L.; Teixeira, J. J.; Vanderplas, B. C.; Weston, N. Org. Process. Res. Dev. 2003, 7, 155.
- (51) Callighan, R. H.; Wilt, M. H. J. Org. Chem. 1961, 26, 4912.
- (52) Cabaj, J. E. Org. Process. Res. Dev. 2006, manuscript in preparation.
- (53) Nysted, L. N.; Pappo, R. U.S. Patent 3,109,016. (b) Sollman, P. B. U.S. Patent 3,281,431.
- (54) Bailey, P. S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1957, 79, 3120.

CR040682Z